IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 95,208

CHARLES MICHAEL KIGHT,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CHRISTINE HAYDINGER Florida Bar No. 0110001

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL - SOUTH 1444 Biscayne Blvd. Suite 202 Miami, FL 33132-1422 (305) 377-7580

COUNSEL FOR MR. KIGHT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Kight was indicted for first-degree murder on January 6, 1983 (R. 13-14). He was convicted on June 4, 1984 (R. 571). The jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 8 to 4 (R. 636). The circuit court accepted the jury recommendation and sentenced Mr. Kight to death (R. 653). The court found two aggravating factors: commission during a robbery and heinous, atrocious or cruel (R. 673-74). The court found two mitigating circumstances: that Mr. Kight once apprehended a robber and Mr. Kight's codefendant entered a plea agreement that allowed him to avoid the death penalty (R. 673). The sentencing order specifically states that "[t]he evidence is in dispute as to who actually killed the victim." (R. 674).

This Court affirmed Mr. Kight's conviction and sentence on direct appeal. <u>Kight v. State</u>, 512 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 485 U.S. 929 (1988). During those proceedings, this Court noted that the evidence against Mr. Kight consisted of his statements to the police -- which indicated that Mr. Hutto was the actual killer -- and his admissions to jailhouse informants. This Court also noted that newly discovered evidence that the State had presented false testimony and failed to disclose evidence of deals it had made with the informants should be raised in a Rule 3.850 proceeding.

After Governor Martinez signed a warrant on September 27, 1989, Mr. Kight filed a motion to vacate in the circuit court and a petition for habeas corpus relief in this Court. The circuit

court conducted a limited evidentiary hearing on Mr. Kight's claim that the State had violated <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>. The circuit court denied relief on all other claims including the ineffective assistance of counsel and mental health issues.

This Court affirmed the circuit court's denial of relief, noting that although there was "conficting testimony concerning whether the State made concessions in exchange for the informants' testimony, it was within the trial court's discretion to find the state's witnesses more credible than those of the defense." Kight v. State, 574 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 1991). This Court also denied Mr. Kight's petition for writ of habeas corpus.

On May 17, 1991, Mr. Kight filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida. The petition was denied without an evidentiary hearing.

On October 20, 1992, Mr. Kight filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in this Court based on the Supreme Court's decision in Espinosa v. Florida. The petition was denied. Kight v. Singletary, 618 So. 2d 1368 (Fla. 1993).

On September 9, 1997, Mr. Kight filed his second Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence presenting newly discovered evidence of his co-defendant's culpability. The circuit court denied relief on November 7, 1997. Mr. Kight filed a motion for reconsideration which was granted on December 17, 1997.

On August 14, 1998, the circuit court conducted a Huff

hearing and scheduled a hearing on Mr. Kight's newly discovered evidence claim for January 21, 1999.

On November 24, 1998, Assistant State Attorney Laura

Starrett filed a Motion for Rehearing regarding Mr. Kight's
entitlement to a hearing (PC-R. 355-61). In support of her
motion, Ms. Starrett included a transcript of a taped interview
with William O'Kelly, the newly discovered witness who was
scheduled to testify on behalf of Mr. Kight. During the
interview at the Chicago jail with Ms. Starrett, an investigator
from her office, and a representative of the Chicago prosecutor's
office, Mr. O'Kelly recanted the affidavit he provided to Mr.
Kight's counsel stating that Mr. Kight's co-defendant confessed
to the murder and planned to blame Mr. Kight. Ms. Starrett's
motion alleges that the affidavit is "false" and she requested
"that the defendant be compelled to provide the Court with the
original affidavit so the Court can consider sanctions." (PC-R.
355). Ms. Starrett explained the basis for this allegation:

The signature on the affidavit submitted by CCR appears identical to the signature of Richard Hays, who was an investigator with CCR in 1996. O'Kelly recalls that the investigator he spoke to was named Rick, but does not remember his last name. The State Attorney's Office has a copy of Hays' signature from another investigation. Paralegal Sally Parsons from the State Attorney's Office has checked with the State of Colorado, and determined that the notary stamp on the affidavit is not consistent with Colorado requirements. They also indicated that Richard Hays was not a notary in that state in 1996.

(PC-R. 355).

On December 17, 1998, the circuit court held a hearing on the State's motion. Ms. Starrett expanded upon the allegations against Mr. Kight's counsel that were contained in her motion:

Mr. O'Kelly represented to us that, one, he -- the things in this affidavit were not true and, two, that he had never sworn to these facts. He indicated that the only contact he had had with anyone from C.C.R. was when he was in Colorado, an investigator who he only remembered the name Rick met with him in a gay bar and it was just the two of them. He indicated that there was no notary present that he was aware of.

He also indicated, however, that it did appear to be his signature on -- all we have ever seen is a copy of this affidavit. However, he has no idea how that happened. In further investigating we tried to determine who had notarized this, and it's hard to read. The only thing that appears -- appears to be the name Richard.

Mr. Abramowitz has had a previous dealing with a Richard Hays who is an investigator with or was formally [sic] an investigator with C.C.R. The signature appears to be the same. We are not handwriting experts, and since we don't have the original we haven't been able to go any further than that.

(PC-R. 473-74). Ms. Starrett also told the court that Mr. O'Kelly had denied the contents of his affidavit: "it is of great concern how Mr. O'Kelly's name has appeared on this when he denies ever signing it and has made clear that none of these -- he would never have sworn to these facts because they are not true." (PC-R. 475). According to Ms. Starrett, Mr. O'Kelly had "no desire to come back to Florida, and he certainly has indicated that he would never testify in behalf of C.C.R. to these facts." (Id). The circuit court granted Ms. Starrett's

request that the original affidavit be provided to the court but denied her motion to reconsider Mr. Kight's right to an evidentiary hearing (PC-R. 479-80). Pursuant to the circuit court's order, counsel for Mr. Kight filed the original affidavit (PC-R. 367-71). Ms. Starrett later withdrew her request that the court impose sanctions based on the affidavit (PC-R. 528).

During a January 5, 1999, hearing on Mr. Kight's pre-hearing motions, during which Ms. Starrett resisted requests to provide Mr. O'Kelly's location to counsel for Mr. Kight, Ms. Starrett revealed that she was still in communication with Mr. O'Kelly after he was extradicted to Colorado. Mr. O'Kelly had called Ms. Starrett directly from Colorado and once asked her to have an ankle bracelet removed (PC-R. 510). Mr. O'Kelly was out on bond on misdemeanor charges and had been told that the Duval County State Attorney's Office requested that he be restrained by the ankle bracelet (PC-R. 510). Ms. Starrett indicated that she contacted Colorado authorities to have the bracelet removed (Id.). Ms. Starrett also revealed that her office had been instrumental in arranging Mr. O'Kelly's arrest in Chicago (PC-R. 521-22).

At the evidentiary hearing on January 21, 1999, William O'Kelly testified that Gary Hutto confessed to him that he stabbed the victim in this case (PC-R. 553). Mr. Hutto also said that he was going to save himself by blaming Mr. Kight for the murder because he believed that a mentally retarded person could not be sentenced to death in Florida (PC-R. 555-56). Mr. O'Kelly

also testified about the events that occurred in Chicago when he recanted his affidavit. He explained that he had been arrested on an outstanding Colorado warrant for misdemeanor criminal mischief (PC-R. 545, 547). When Mr. O'Kelly spoke to Ms. Starrett and her investigator, he was handcuffed to the wall of a holding cell and told them what they wanted to hear because he believed this was the only way he would be permitted to leave the jail (PC-R. 546, 549).

The circuit court found that Mr. O'Kelly's testimony proves that Mr. Kight's death sentence is unconstitutional in light of his co-defendant's life sentence:

In his trial memorandum, Defendant also placed great emphasis on the fact that the death sentence was imposed upon him, as opposed to the lesser sentence Mr. Hutto received. That aspect of the case is very troubling to this Court. An over-all review of the record herein indicates that Mr. Hutto's culpability for the murder was at least equal to that of Mr. Kight's. Thus, the death sentence herein appears unconstitutionally dispar[a]te.

(PC-R. 452). However, the circuit court found that Mr. Kight's disparate sentence argument was procedurally barred because it had been raised at the time of Mr. Kight's trial. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. INTRODUCTION.

Mr. Kight was convicted and sentenced to death for the robbery and murder of Lawrence Butler, a taxicab driver. Kight and his co-defendant Gary Hutto were arrested on December 7, 1982, for the robbery of Herman McGoogin, another taxicab driver. Mr. Hutto gave a statement incriminating Mr. Kight; Mr. Kight declined to be interrogated. The Public Defender's Office was appointed to represent both Mr. Hutto and Mr. Kight; no one from the public defender's office visited Mr. Kight at the jail. After the discovery of Mr. Butler's body on December 14th, suspicion focused on Mr. Hutto and Mr. Kight. On December 17th, Mr. Kight gave two statements to the police indicating that he was present at the murder, but that Mr. Hutto was the actual killer. Mr. Kight, who cannot read, had been given a standard advice form by the Public Defender's Office; he had still not spoken to an attorney. Mr. Kight and Mr. Hutto were both arrested for the murder of Mr. Butler. The Public Defender's Office then moved to withdraw from representing Mr. Kight on December 22, 1982. Mr. Kight's statement to the police was cited in support of the motion to withdraw.

During pretrial proceedings, Mr. Kight's counsel moved to disqualify the Public Defender's Office from representing Mr. Hutto. Subsequent to the appointment of substitute counsel, Mr. Hutto entered a plea agreement with the State that allowed him to avoid the death penalty. The State allowed Mr. Hutto to plead

guilty to second-degree murder if his attorney disclosed the names of jailhouse snitches to whom Mr. Kight had allegedly confessed. The names of the snitches had been obtained on Mr. Hutto's behalf by the Public Defender's Office which had also represented Mr. Kight. The trial court denied a motion to exclude these witnesses due to the conflict of interest created by the Public Defender's Office's joint representation of Mr. Kight and Mr. Hutto.

Mr. Kight's attorney presented evidence that Mr. Hutto had made an incriminating statement to the police, that he had confessed to a friend the day after the murder, and that he had confessed while incarcerated. The evidence also showed that Mr. Hutto had the victim's watch and lighter when he was arrested and that the blood on his clothes was consistent with that of the victim but could not have been his own. The State's strongest evidence against Mr. Kight was that of the four jailhouse informants whose names had been provided to the State by Mr. Hutto pursuant to his plea agreement. This was only evidence to rebut the defense theory that Mr. Hutto was the actual killer and it also contained other prejudicial details such as Mr. Kight's plan to blame the crime on Mr. Hutto; Mr. Kight's laughter when asked whether he was worried about the charges; Mr. Kight's recounting of the victim's begging; and Mr. Kight's plan to get off by feigning insanity. The four snitches all testified that they had no expectations of receiving any benefit in exchange for their cooperation, and the State emphasized in closing argument

that the informants had already been sentenced and could not be helped by the State Attorney's Office. Mr. Kight's trial attorney suspected that the informants had deals with the State Attorney's Office and expected assistance in exchange for their cooperation but he lacked any evidence with which to impeach them.

These suspicions were confirmed in 1989 when Richard Ellwood and Charlie Sims, two of the snitches who helped to convict Mr. Kight, revealed that they had lied at the trial. They testified that Mr. Kight never confessed to them, that they learned details of the crime from television and from Mr. Hutto, that they were prepped for trial in the State Attorney's Office by reviewing depositions, police reports, crime scene photos, and the autopsy report. Most significantly, they revealed that the State Attorney's Office promised all four informants that they would receive assistance in exchange for their help in convicting Mr. Kight. Mr. Kight's attorneys presented documentary evidence proving that after Mr. Kight's trial the State Attorney's Office filed motions to vacate sentences on behalf of the snitches and stipulated to motions to reduce sentences. All of these motions specifically refer to the witnesses' participation in Mr. Kight's trial as the basis on which to grant them sentencing relief.

The hearing testimony of Mr. Ellwood and Mr. Sims is corroborated by newly discovered evidence that was presented in 1999. William O'Kelly testified that Mr. Hutto confessed to him when they were incarcerated together at the Duval County Jail.

Mr. O'Kelly testified that Mr. Hutto believed that because Mr. Kight is mentally retarded he could not get the death penalty and that Mr. Hutto planned to save himself by placing full blame for the murder on Mr. Kight.

The circuit court agreed that the newly discovered evidence presented by Mr. Kight proves that his death sentence is unconstitutional because his codefendant, who is at the least equally culpable to Mr. Kight, received a lesser sentence. Hutto entered a plea bargain with the State in exchange the names of witnesses (jailhouse snitches) who would corroborate his own testimony shifting the blame entirely to Mr. Kight. Evidence discovered since Mr. Kight's trial proves that the witnesses supplied to the State by Mr. Hutto were instructed by him about their testimony and that in exchange for their false testimony they also received lesser sentences and other assistance from the State. Mr. Kight's disparate sentence is the result of the State's decision to plea bargain with Mr. Hutto in order to secure evidence against Mr. Kight. While the jury that sentenced Mr. Kight to death was aware of Mr. Hutto's plea to second-degree murder and the fact that he could not be sentenced to death, it was misled about his participation in this crime.

B. THE TRIAL RECORD.

The main evidence against Mr. Kight at his trial consisted of his statements to the police, the testimony of Herman McGoogin, and the testimony of four jailhouse snitches. Mr.

Kight's statements and Mr. McGoogin's testimony all support the defense theory that Mr. Hutto had planned and committed the crime and that Mr. Kight was present but did not participate in the murder. The only evidence indicating that Mr. Kight was actually involved in the murder came from the testimony of the jailhouse snitches. All the other evidence, including the State's serology analysis, indicated that Mr. Hutto was the more culpable codefendant who had acted alone in killing Lawrence Butler.

The State introduced two statements that Mr. Kight made after his arrest for the McGoogin robbery. In both statements, Mr. Kight admitted his presence at Mr. Butler's murder and told the police that Mr. Hutto had planned and committed the crime alone. Detective Ross Weeks testified that he had a conversation with Mr. Kight:

He said I am not afraid of the chair, man, and I said what chair are you talking about? And he said the electric chair because Hutto stabbed the guy and cut his throat and he's still got the man's watch. He was a taxicab driver.

(R. 1883). After making this statement, Mr. Kight, who is illiterate, was put in an interview room where he signed a form waiving his rights and made a statement to Detective Kesinger. At the trial, Detective Kesinger read the following statement which he had written during the interview:

I met this guy Hutto about two weeks ago. I don't know his first name but his nickname is Tiger. Hutto refers to me as Chuck or by my name Bear. On the 6th of December, 1982, I was at the Odessy Club at Main and Ashley Street. I got to the club around 10:00 a.m. in the morning and I stayed

around the club all day.

I was seeing a friend named Donut, a dark skinned female. Shortly after midnight Hutto arrived, we both sat at different tables in the bar talking to different people. Hutto had been to the bar earlier about 4:30 p.m. but he had left.

After a few minutes of Hutto being in the bar he came over and started talking to me. He said that he wanted to go out to Heckscher Drive to visit a friend. Hutto said he had already called a cab and he wanted me to go with him.

Hutto said his friend would be home at about 1:00 a.m. We then walked outside and waited about ten minutes and the cab finally arrived. The color of the cab was blue and a black male was driving.

Hutto got into the right front passenger's seat and I sat in the right rear seat. Hutto then told the cab driver he wanted to go out Heckscher Drive towards the ferry. We then drove north on Main Street and turned onto Heckscher Drive.

We drove for a while and Hutto directed the driver down a dirt road. We just went a short distance on this dirt road when Hutto put a knife to the driver's throat and told him to stop and put the cab in park.

The driver started reaching towards his left and Hutto stabbed him in his chest. The driver was able to get completely out of the cab and he started to run. Hutto jumped out and grabbed the driver and told him to take off all of his clothes.

The driver then started undressing. The driver was wearing a black leather jacket, a white shirt and dark trousers. The driver was stripped down to his underwear. By this time, I was standing out of the cab. Hutto then removed the man's watch and two rings. One was a golden wedding band and the other a silver ring with one stone.

The driver didn't want to give up the

wedding band but Hutto stabbed him in the chest again and told him to shut up. The driver then fell onto his back. He was still breathing. Hutto then stabbed him again in the chest and stomach. Hutto then dragged him back into the bushes. I went back into the bushes also and saw Hutto stab the victim again. Hutto also kicked the driver in the side and he then cut the driver's throat on the side because he was still breathing.

Hutto then give me the driver's knife he had. We then got into the cab and Hutto drove. He drove to Old Trout River Bridge on Main Street. The bridge had been barricaded off so you can't go across it any more. I believe we were on the south part of the old bridge headed north. There were no barriers and you can drive right off the end into the river.

Hutto got two bricks and placed them on the gas pedal. This made the engine run fast. He then placed the gear shift in drive and the cab started rolling. I heard the cab making scratching and crashing noises at the end of the bridge. Hutto wanted to go check and see if it was in the water but I didn't want to so we then left, walking.

We walked down on Main to the Clock Restaurant at 44th and Main Street. We then ate breakfast and Hutto paid for it. I talked briefly with a friend of mine who owns and runs the bar at 8th and Walnut Street. Roger is a white male. Roger gave me and Hutto a ride to 8th and Main Street. I guess it was about 3:45 a.m. in the morning.

Me and Hutto then walked to a condemned house where Hutto was staying. I believe the house i[s] just a couple of houses north of Sam's Liquors on the same side of the street. We went in the front door and into the downstairs room. Hutto put the rings into a medicine cabinet in one of the back rooms.

Hutto then give me \$23 cash which he possibly had taken from the cab driver during the robbery of the cab driver. I remember handling the driver's wallet. I picked it up from the seat and handled it. While in the

jail I saw an article in the paper about the murder of the cab driver. I cut this article out and kept it.

Also the night I went with Hutto I was drinking heavily and also took some Quaaludes seven fourteens. The next day I was arrested by the police. The knife they took from me is the one that belonged to the cab driver.

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