IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CHARLES MICHAEL KIGHT,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 95,208

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 291692

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

carry out its end of the bargain (8PCR 217, 219, 237). He admitted he told assistant state attorney Watson that he "could really screw the State" (8PCR 239-40). He also admitted he would like to see Hutto "fry" because he was once a correctional officer (8PCR 241).

Virtually every significant aspect of Ellwood's testimony was contradicted by other witness. For example, Louis Eliopoulos, prior to 1985 an investigator for the Public Defender's office, testified that he went to the jail to talk to inmates who had been there with Kight (11PCR 492). Eliopoulos testified that he had no contact with Ellwood prior to his visit to jail and had no information going in that Ellwood might know something about the Butler murder (11PCR 493). However, he told Ellwood he did as a bluff (11PCR 493). Ellwood looked concerned and told Eliopoulos he did not know how Eliopoulos had got that information, but admitted to Eliopoulos that Kight had made statements to him about the case (11PCR 493-94). Although Eliopoulos warned Ellwood that the Public Defender's office simply was not in the position to offer any deals in exchange for information, Ellwood gave a written statement, which included details that had not been publicized on TV or in the newspapers (11PCR 494, 497). Eliopoulos then contacted other inmates who would have been in contact with Kight, including Edward Hugo and others (11PCR 495). These inmates also had talked to

Kight and also knew details of the crime that they could not otherwise have known (11PCR 497). Eliopoulos checked to see if any of them had ever been cellmates with Gary Hutto, and concluded that they had not (11PCR 497-98).

Ellwood's testimony that Charles Sims and Edward Hugo had lied at trial was contradicted by both of them. Although Sims did claim that the state had offered him a deal, he testified that his trial testimony was true (9PCR 295, 315-16); Kight did tell him that he was going to put the murder off on the other guy, Kight did tell Sims that he had killed the cab driver and had slit his throat, and Kight did threaten to kill Sims just like he had killed the black cab driver (9PCR 307-08, 310). In fact, Kight later tried to carry out his threat, and tried to kill Sims with a razor (9PCR 309).

Hugo also stood by his trial testimony; he testified that Kight had indeed admitted killing the cab driver by slitting his throat (12PCR 510). Hugo was first contacted by Eliopoulos, not the state (12PCR 511). Hugo had been a cellmate with Kight for four months (12PCR 512); he did not know anything about Hutto, but he knew Kight was guilty and did not want to see the wrong man on death row (9PCR 513-14). Hugo testified that the state offered him nothing and made no promises; he was released on parole, but no earlier than scheduled (12PCR 514-16). He has not been back in

jail since being released (12PCR 521). Hugo had never before helped the state attorney's office (12PCR 548). Hugo never got together with Ellwood to concoct a story, and no one with the prosecution coached him to lie, told him what to say, or threatened him (12PCR 516-17). Nor did the state speak to the inmate witnesses as a group; Ms. Watson spoke to them individually (12PCR 519). Hugo did talk to Ellwood after they had testified and Ellwood told him he "was madder than hell" that the state had not done anything for him and he promised "he would get back at them" (12PCR 517).

Victor Bostic was an inmate who did *not* testify at trial. Although Bostic testified that he would have been willing to concoct testimony in exchange for a deal, Bostic admitted that the state never offered or promised him anything for his testimony (11PCR 469-70).

(Then) State Attorney Ed Austin and former assistant state attorneys Baker King, Mark Mahon and Denise Watson testified. Mr. Austin testified that the policy of his office was full disclosure to the defense of any and all concessions or deals with state witnesses (11PCR 480-81). Unfair and unethical prosecutorial conduct is not tolerated (11PCR 483). King, Mahon and Watson testified in no uncertain terms that they did not suborn perjury in

this case, did not coach witnesses, did not give them access to state files other than their own depositions, and did not make any promises in exchange for testimony (9PCR 320 et seq; 10PCR 383 et seq; and 12 PCR 558 et seq). As these prosecutors noted, the inmate witnesses who testified were already under sentence (10PCR 434); generally, as defense attorney Robert Link acknowledged, when there is a "deal in exchange for testimony," the sentencing occurs after the trial; it is unusual for an already sentenced person to testify against an unrelated defendant (12PCR 622).¹⁵

¹⁵ Kight emphasizes that, despite the prosecutors' testimony, inmates did receive benefits after trial (Initial Brief at 42-44). This alone, however, fails to show any pre-existing agreement or inducement. Furthermore, not a single inmate got time off his sentence; any post-trial favorable treatment was limited to compensating for gain time lost by having to remain in the Duval County jail for a lengthy period of time rather than being in prison, or providing drug treatment, or arranging transfers for inmates whose lives were demonstrably in danger as the result of having testified for the state in a capital murder case (12PCR 568-71, 585-86, 602-04).

D. THE 1999 EVIDENTIARY HEARING

William O'Kelly testified that he was in inmate in Duval County Jail from October 1983 to November 1984, charged with murder (4R 536).¹⁶ Gary Hutto was his cellmate for a month or more (4R 536-37). Hutto told him he and a codefendant were in for killing a cab driver (4R 538). Hutto told him he had stabbed the driver (4R 538). Hutto did not, however, tell O'Kelly what Kight's involvement was (4R 556), he never told O'Kelly he had acted alone in stabbing the cab driver, and he never told O'Kelly that Kight had not stabbed the cab driver (4R 563).

O'Kelly did not come forward with this information initially because he had "problems of his own" at the time; but even as late as 1989, when "people came to me," O'Kelly still did not divulge what he supposedly knew about this case (4R 541). However, for reasons which O'Kelly could not explain, in 1996 he told a CCR investigator name Rick what he knew about Kight (4R 542). He signed an affidavit at a copy center (4R 543). O'Kelly did not write out the affidavit (4R 558)

In October of 1998, O'Kelly lived in Chicago (4R 545). As he was getting ready to move back to Colorado, he was arrested and taken to jail on a Colorado warrant for assault on police officers

¹⁶ See <u>Kokal v. State</u>, 492 So.2d 1317 (Fla. 1986).

(4R 545, 547). He was not "mistreated" at the jail (4R 546). While there Assistant State Attorney Laura Starrett and an investigator named Barry spoke to him (4R 547). They were "really, really nice." Ms. Starrett "never made any promises, any threats, nothing."

O'Kelly was picked up at the Jacksonville airport and taken to a hotel the evening before the hearing by "Christine" (4R 559-60). He left the room but returned at midnight when "Christine" talked to him about "what I was going to say today" (4R 561). He did not tell "Christine" right away that he had lied to Ms. Starrett and Mr. Abromowitz about having signed a sworn affidavit when he had talked to them in Chicago; it took some two hours of talking to her (4R 651-62). He acknowledged that Ms. Starrett had never told him to lie or to say anything but the truth, but nevertheless he had not up to the day of the hearing told her that some of what he had told her earlier was a lie (4R 562). He reiterated, though, that even though he had signed an affidavit which stated to the contary,¹⁷ Hutto had never told him that Kight did not kill the cab

¹⁷ As noted in footnote 3, supra, O'Kelly stated in the affidavit: "Gary told me that Kight did not kill the taxi cab driver" (3R 378)

driver (4R 568). In this regard, his testimony was consistent with his statement to Abramovitz in Chicago.¹⁸

Kight's trial attorney Bill Sheppard testified, basically, that if O'Kelly had been available as a witness at the time of the trial, he would have called him. Sheppard did acknowledge, however, that he "was stuck in a case and I think we do this from time to time, I guess you call it around the defense bar, as a slow plea of guilty on the guilt phase trying to impact the penalty phase" (4R 605). He also admitted that he would not be "as thrilled" to use O'Kelly if O'Kelly had recanted his affidavit (4R 605), but would still have called him "simply because this type of witness ..., you don't know what they're going to say until they're sitting here and saying it so, I mean, he could have recanted 36 times and that wouldn't have surprised me if you put it that way because these type of witnesses do this" (4R 606). Even if O'Kelly had recanted his affidavit, Sheppard would have called him "because I'd have made him eat every piece of this paper" (4R 606).

Barry Abramovitz, state attorney investigator testified that he went to Chicago to speak to O'Kelly about his affidavit (4R

¹⁸ In the statement to investigator Abramowitz in Chicago, O'Kelly denied having been sworn (2R 359), denied signing the affidavit (2R 361), denied being afraid to come forward earlier (2R 360), and denied stating that Hutto had told him that Kight did not kill the taxi cab driver (2R 360).

625). Chicago authorities had located O'Kelly by running an NCIC, which was standard procedure for locating a witness (4R 627-28). Abramovitz informed O'Kelly that he was not charged with anything in Florida. O'Kelly was not threatened and spoke voluntarily and willingly (4R 621). O'Kelly told Abramovitz that statements in his affidavit were not true; he had no doubts about it, was indeed emphatic about it (4R 622).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Kight obtained an evidentiary hearing on his successive 3.850 motion by alleging that he had newly discovered evidence which would exonerate Kight and prove his innocence. Having failed utterly to present any evidence which exonerates him, Kight now issues of proportionality and attempts to relitigate the prosecutorial misconduct, neither of which were raised in the 3.850 motion, and both of which were presented and decided long ago. Both of these issues are procedurally barred, not only because they were not timely raised even assuming that his "new" evidence bears on either of those issues, but also because his "new" evidence fails to call into question the prior determinations as to these issues. Kight long ago had a full and fair opportunity to litigate any issue of proportionality and prosecutorial misconduct. He is not entitled to relitigate those issues.

The record fully supports Judge Carither's determination that O'Kelly's testimony simply could "not have affected any significant conclusion drawn by the jury or the trial judge," including any conclusion as to the relative culpability of Kight versus Hutto. The evidence in this case amply supports the conclusion reached by both the jury and the trial judge that Kight was the actual killer. O'Kelly's testimony is not sufficient to undermine that conclusion. Therefore, Kight is not entitled to either a new trial or a new sentencing.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT RELIEF AS TO SENTENCE ON GROUNDS OF PROPORTIONALITY; THIS ISSUE IS NOT ONLY PROCEDURALLY BARRED, IT IS MERITLESS

Kight leads off his argument with an issue not raised in his 3.850 motion, and decided long ago adversely to the Kight by this Court on direct appeal. On direct appeal, this Court reviewed all the evidence, including evidence presented by Kight indicating that Hutto might also have stabbed the victim, and determined (1) that the trial court's findings in aggravation and mitigation were proper, (2) that "there was sufficient record support for the jury's conclusion that Kight 'actually' killed Butler," and (3) that "the death penalty was proportionately imposed" on Kight. <u>Kight v. State, supra, 512</u> So.2d at 933. This finding is the law of this case, unless Kight can present newly discovered evidence materially calling into question the relative involvement of the two codefendants. Because Judge Carithers determined that the new evidence does not, and could not "have affected any significant conclusion drawn by the jury or the trial judge," it would seem that Kight would first have to demonstrate how Judge Carither's Instead, Kight evaluation of the new evidence was erroneous. argues this issue as if the relative culpability of Kight versus

Hutto is an open question never before resolved. The State's position is this: absent newly discovered evidence which "affects any significant conclusion drawn by the jury or the trial judge," the issue of proportionality is procedurally barred as one which was raised on direct appeal and decided by this Court, just as Judge Carithers found (3R 453).

This is not a case like <u>Scott v. Dugger</u>, 604 So.2d 465 (Fla. 1992), in which a codefendant received a life sentence *after* this Court affirmed the defendant's death sentence on appeal. In such a case, the life sentence subsequently imposed may constitute newly discovered evidence. In this case, it was known to all parties and to the courts, not only on direct appeal, but also at trial, that Hutto had pled guilty to second degree murder and thus was ineligible for a death sentence. In fact, this circumstance was found to be mitigating by the trial court in its sentencing order. <u>Kight</u>, <u>supra</u>, 512 So.2d at 932. Thus, Hutto's sentence is most emphatically "new" evidence.

Nor is this a case like <u>Puccio v. State</u>, 701 So.2d 858 (Fla. 1997), in which this Court found on direct appeal that the trial court's determination that Puccio was the actual killer was not supported by sufficient evidence. In this case, this Court explicitly found on direct appeal that the record supported the

determination that Kight was the actual killer. <u>Kight</u>, <u>supra</u> at 933.¹⁹ Furthermore, Judge Carithers explicitly found that Kight's new evidence could not have affected this conclusion (3R 452).

This case is controlled by <u>Steinhorst v. Singletary</u>, 638 So.2d 33 (Fla. 1994). As in <u>Steinhorst</u>, Kight's proportionality claim is successive; absent new evidence materially affecting any judgment made at that time, Kight cannot relitigate this issue.

This issue is also procedurally barred because it is not timely raised. Rule 3.850(b) contains a one-year time limitation for filing motions to vacate judgment and sentence in capital cases. An exception is made for motions based on newly-discovered facts. Rule 3.850 (b)(10). Claims filed after the one-year period has elapsed are procedurally barred unless "the facts on which the claim is predicated were unknown to the movant or the movant's attorney and could not have been ascertained by the exercise of due diligence." <u>Henderson v. Singletary</u>, 617 So.2d 313, 316 (fn. 3) (Fla. 1993). Assuming that O'Kelly was a newly discovered witness in 1996, when he allegedly signed his affidavit, then Kight had one year to bring a new claim for relief based upon that new evidence.

¹⁹ Although this Court's opinion refers to the jury's determination, it should be noted that the trial court also made this explicit determination, stating that the evidence, although in dispute, "supports a clear finding that the defendant actually committed the homicide" (4TR 663-64).

<u>Mills v. State</u>, 684 So.2d 801, 804-05) (Fla. 1996). Nowhere in the 3.850 motion does Kight allege that his death sentence is disproportionate. The proportionality issue was raised and argued for the first time in Kight's post-hearing memorandum filed simultaneously with the State's in March of 1999--some three years after O'Kelly gave his affidavit. What has happened, the State would suggest, is that having failed miserably in his attempt to "exonerate" Kight with O'Kelly's testimony, he has belatedly, and some two years too late, raised proportionality. This piecemeal presentation of ever-shifting legal theories is exactly the kind of litigation on the installment plan that the time limitations incorporated into 3.850 are supposed to prevent, and his proportionality claim is time barred.

In any event, this issue is not only procedurally barred, it is meritless. Kight's death sentence is not disproportionate, with or without O'Kelly's testimony. Although the evidence is not completely undisputed (and was not at trial), it was and is more than sufficient to support the conclusion that Kight was the actual killer.

Virtually all of Kight's argument on this issue is merely a rehash (and an inaccurate rehash at that) of evidence presented and arguments made at the original trial and on appeal. For example,

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